8

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County

Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOSHUA KERR CRAMER

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-002471

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED
FEB 26 2019
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the trial judge err in dismissing Appellant's motion for re-sentencing where a life sentence imposed upon an eighteen-year old sharing the same developmental qualities and characteristics as offenders under age eighteen violates the federal and state constitutional requirements of an individualized, proportionate sentence?

II. Did the trial judge err in dismissing Appellant's motion for re-sentencing where a life sentence imposed upon an eighteen-year old sharing the same developmental qualities and characteristics as offenders under age eighteen violates the federal and state constitutional requirements of equal protection under the law?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 28, 1998, Appellant entered guilty pleas to two counts of murder pursuant to a plea agreement to avoid the death penalty. R. 3, ll. 13-20; R. 37-269. The murders occurred during a “drug deal gone bad.” R. 37-269. Appellant gave a statement to the police regarding the circumstances of the crimes and testified against a co-defendant. R. 3, ll. 22-23; R. 37-269. Pursuant to the plea agreement, the parties agreed to life sentences, but left it in the judge’s discretion regarding whether the sentences would be served concurrently or consecutively. R. 4, ll. 12-18; R. 37-269. The Honorable John C. Hayes, III, accepted Appellant’s guilty pleas and sentenced him to two consecutive life sentences without the possibility of parole. R. 4, ll. 12-18; R. 37-269; R. 287-296.

On September 23, 2015, Appellant filed a motion for re-sentencing. R. 4, ll. 19-20; R. 270. Simultaneously, Appellant requested the appointment of counsel. R. 4, ll. 21-22; R. 271-272. On September 19, 2016, Appellant wrote to the Clerk of Court inquiring about the status of his motions. R. 273. The Clerk of Court responded on October 3, 2016, advising Appellant that he was eighteen years of age at the time of his arrest, which may affect whether he qualified for juvenile resentencing. R. 274. The Clerk forwarded Appellant’s letter and the Clerk’s letter to the Deputy Solicitor. R. 274. The Deputy Solicitor wrote to Appellant, informing him that his case would not be reconsidered due to his age. R. 4, l. 23 – R. 5, l. 1; R. 37-269. Appellant filed a notice of appeal. R. 5, l. 1; R. 37-269; R. 275-276. On June 7, 2017, Chief Justice Beatty issued an order explaining that because the letter from the Deputy Solicitor was not a decision, Appellant could not appeal. R. 5, ll. 2-7; R. 275-276. Nevertheless, Chief Justice Beatty provided his order to the Chief Administrative Judge for the Sixteenth Judicial Circuit to ensure

Appellant's motion was processed in the manner specified by the Supreme Court's Administrative Order regarding re-sentencing motions. R. 5, ll. 2-7; R. 275-276.

Pursuant to a "Memo to File" filed on June 28, 2017, the Honorable John C. Hayes, III, appointed Harry Dest to represent Appellant. R. 277. On September 6, 2017, Chief Justice Beatty assigned the Honorable Grace Gilchrist Knie to preside over all matters related to Appellant's motion for re-sentencing. R. 278-279. Judge Knie appointed the Public Defender's office to represent Appellant and established a scheduling order in the case. R. 5, ll. 8-9; R.280-281. On November 6, 2017, the state filed a return to Appellant's motion for re-sentencing. R. 282-283. In the return, the state argued that Appellant was "not eligible for any re-sentencing" because "he was not a minor at the time of the offense." R. 282-283. According to the state, the court was "without legal authority to conduct a re-sentencing hearing." R. 282-283.

On November 6, 2017, Judge Knie convened a hearing on the matter. R. 1. Deputy Solicitor Willy Thompson represented the state. R. 1. Harry Dest and Melissa Inzerillo represented Appellant. R. 1. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Knie took the matter under advisement. R. 31, ll. 10-19. By an order filed November 27, 2017, Judge Knie granted the state's motion to dismiss Appellant's request for resentencing. R. 284-286.

On November 28, 2017, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred in dismissing Appellant's motion for re-sentencing where a life sentence imposed upon an eighteen-year old sharing the same developmental qualities and characteristics as offenders under age eighteen violates the federal and state constitutional requirements of an individualized, proportionate sentence.

Standard of review

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 197, 682 S.E.2d 275, 279 (Ct. App. 2009)(quoting State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001)). The appellate court is “bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” Id. (quoting Wilson, 345 S.C. at 5-6, 545 S.E.2d at 829). The reviewing court “does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial court’s ruling is supported by any evidence.” State v. Slocumb, 412 S.C. 88, 91, 770 S.E.2d 436, 438 (Ct. App. 2015). “A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.” In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010).

Relevant facts

It was undisputed that at the time of the murders, Appellant was eighteen years of age. R. 3, ll. 20-21; R. 17, ll. 4-7; R. 37-269. Appellant argued he was entitled to re-sentencing because the “psychological, neurobiological studies” underlining the cases mandating re-sentencing for juveniles sentenced to life without parole applied equally to Appellant despite the fact that he was eighteen years old at the time of the offense. R. 6, ll. 18-25; R. 37-269.

Appellant explained that as an eighteen-year old, he exhibited the same characteristics of youth as those under the age of eighteen and, as a result, he was similarly situated to those entitled to resentencing under controlling state and federal law. R. 7, ll. 7-10; R. 37-269. Further, Appellant explained that the opinions from the South Carolina Supreme Court and the United States Supreme Court relied heavily upon the study of brain development not only in finding the constitutional violation, but also in creating the factors that courts must consider when sentencing juveniles. R. 28; ll. 11-19; R. 37-269. On this point, Appellant described how the scientific community agreed that “brain development does not fully complete until the mid-20s,” and that the brain develops from the back to the front, meaning the “prefrontal cortex” is the “last part of the brain that is developed.” R. 8, l. 22 – R. 9, l. 3. This last part is the “portion of the brain deal[ing] with the person’s ability to assess risk, think ahead, and regulate emotions. This part of the brain, according to neuroscience, defines a person’s personality.” R. 9, ll. 3-6; see also R. 37-269. Studies indicated “the emotional reaction between people of the age of 16 and 19-years old are basically the same.” R. 9, ll. 7-10; see also R. 37-269.

Next, Appellant noted that the South Carolina statutory scheme acknowledged that “children are different” and that those differences continue past the age of 18. R. 9, ll. 14-22. Specifically, Appellant pointed to the Youthful Offender Act which provides different treatment for individuals between the ages of seventeen and twenty-six. R. 9, ll. 14-23; see also R. 28, l. 20 - R. 29, l. 8; R. 37-269. The Act recognizes the capacity of rehabilitation among youthful offenders, including those beyond the age of eighteen, by requiring that certain educational and housing opportunities be afforded to them. R. 9, ll. 14-23; see also R. 37-269. There is even a special parole system for individuals between ages seventeen and twenty-six. R. 37-269.

Remarking upon the Supreme Court’s acknowledgement that the age of eighteen was

arbitrary and that “the qualities that distinguish juveniles do not disappear when the individual turns 18,” Appellant noted that if he were under eighteen, he would be entitled to resentencing, according to the states’ argument, but not entitled to resentencing as an eighteen-year-old despite the fact that “the neuroscience, the brain development, and the psychological factors are the same for both a 17-year old as one that’s either 18 or 19.” R. 10, ll. 1-11. Relying upon these similarities, at least two other jurisdictions held that youth must be considered when sentencing those over the age of eighteen. R. 10, ll. 12-15; R. 37-269.

Under the state’s argument, Appellant, “despite being similarly situated,” would not be able to show how youth impacted his crimes and how he has been rehabilitated while incarcerated. R. 11, ll. 5-9. Over the course of almost twenty years of incarceration, Appellant made significant progress toward rehabilitation. R. 11, ll. 10-11; R. 37-269. He was in a “character behavioral unit,” “a special unit inside the Department of Corrections for those who have demonstrated that they can comply with the rules of the Department of Corrections and are on good behavior.” R. 11, ll. 13-18; R. 37-269. Appellant had a positive work history within the prison and participated in a program to deter young people from a life of crime. R. 11, ll. 18-23; R. 37-269.

The state argued that Appellant was not entitled to an individualized sentencing proceeding during which the constitutional impact of his youth would be considered because he was eighteen years of age at the time of the offense. R. 15, ll. 4-10. According to the state, eighteen was “the age of majority” in South Carolina, entitling a person to vote, go to war, buy firearms, enter into contracts, and marry. R. 15, ll. 8-16. Although it cannot be disputed that the United States Supreme Court and the South Carolina Supreme Court never considered whether the brain science required consideration of the constitutional significance of youth for individuals

aged eighteen, the state claimed both courts had "already considered that." R. 16, ll. 17-23. Thus, in the state's mind, Appellant was asking to "re-litigate what the case law has already determined and settled." R. 16, ll. 23-25; R. 18, ll. 8-11.

In addition to the state's argument that the law was "settled," the state argued that a requirement that judges consider the constitutional significance of youth during sentencing would open "a Pandora's Box." R. 23, ll. 11-14.

When do we then limit that?

Well, then every person who's under 20?

Will it be under 21?

Will it be 25 as the defense suggested when they said that, that the mind and the brain of a young person changes all the way and develops all the way up to 25-years of age or would we say that certain people can be in their 30s and 40s and have it apply, and then we have to consider those - - may make certain considerations for them because they weren't as well educated or they were slower mentally or they had other mental health issues that prohibited them from understanding everything and they acted like children even though they were adults.

This Pandora's Box can not be opened because it would be impossible for the court to go back and do all those things. It would be unjust for the court to go back and do all those things.

R. 23, l. 15 – R. 24, l. 6. In other words, the state argued Appellant's position should not be adopted, despite any constitutional significance, because compliance would be hard and time-consuming.

Ultimately, Judge Knie denied Appellant's motion for resentencing. R. 284-286. Judge Knie concluded that the right to a resentencing proceeding due to the failure of courts to consider the constitutional impact of youth was limited to defendants under eighteen years of age at the time of the offense. R.284-286. Thus, Judge Knie found Appellant was eighteen years old at the time of the offense, and therefore, not entitled to resentencing. R.284-286.

Discussion

The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution bars “cruel and unusual punishments.” U.S. Const. amend VIII. “The basic concept underlying the Eighth Amendment is nothing less than the dignity of man. ... The Amendment must draw its meaning from the evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing society.” Trop v. Dulles, 356 U.S. 86, 100-101 (1958). “To determine whether a punishment is cruel and unusual, courts must look beyond historical conceptions to ‘the evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing society.’” Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 58 (2010) (quoting Estelle v. Gamble, 429 U.S. 97, 102 (1976)). “Embodied in the Constitution’s ban on cruel and unusual punishment is the ‘precept of justice that punishment for the crime should be graduated and proportioned to [the] offense.’” Id. at 59 (quoting Weems v. United States, 217 U.S. 349, 367 (1910)). Similarly, the South Carolina Constitution prohibits “cruel,” “corporal,” and “unusual punishments.” S.C. Const. art. I, § 15.

Recently, in Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460 (2012), the United States Supreme Court held that a mandatory sentence of life without parole for juvenile homicide offenders violates the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment. The Court determined that the Eighth Amendment required the sentencer “to take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison.” Id. at 479.

Following Miller, one of the questions confronting courts has been what constitutes a “juvenile.” In order to answer this question, a review the evolution of the Court’s Eighth Amendment jurisprudence is of assistance and of particular import to Appellant’s appeal.

Over the years, the cases addressing the proportionality of sentences have developed along two general lines. The first is concerned with the particular circumstances of the case and whether the defendant's sentence for a term of years is grossly disproportionate given the particular offense. Graham, 560 U.S. at 59; Harmelin v. Michigan, 501 U.S. 957, 1005 (1991). The second classification of cases is concerned with categorical rules as applied to classes of offenses or classes of offenders. Graham, 560 U.S. at 60-61. For example, Supreme Court categorical rulings related to categories of offenses prohibit the imposition of the death penalty for non-homicide crimes against individuals. Id. (citing Kennedy v. Louisiana, 554 U.S. 407 (2008)). Categorical rulings prior to Graham prohibited the death penalty for defendants who committed their crimes before the age of eighteen, Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005), or whose intellectual functioning is in a low range, Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304 (2002). Graham, 560 U.S. at 61.

When adopting categorical proportionality rules, the Court first considers "objective indicia of society's standards, as expressed in legislative enactments and state practice" to determine whether there is a national consensus against the sentencing practice at issue. Id. at 61 (quoting Roper, 543 U.S. at 572). Generally, the Court has relied on social science data and statistics to discern "society's evolving standards of decency." Roper, 543 U.S. at 560-77. "[G]uided by 'the standards elaborated by controlling precedents and by the Court's own understanding and interpretation of the Eighth Amendment's text, history, meaning, and purpose,'" the Court, in the exercise of its own independent judgment, then determines whether the punishment in question violates the Eighth Amendment of the Constitution. Graham, 560 U.S. at 61 (quoting Kennedy v. Louisiana, 554 U.S. 407, 421 (2008)).

In Roper, the Supreme Court established a categorical ban on the death penalty for juveniles relying in large part on social science research indicating that youths have a lessened culpability and

are less deserving of the most severe punishments. 543 U.S. at 569-75. Juvenile offenders are fundamentally different from adults for purposes of sentencing for three reasons: (1) they are immature and have “an underdeveloped sense of responsibility;” (2) they “are more vulnerable or susceptible to negative influences and outside pressures, including peer pressure;” and (3) their characters are “not as well formed” as adults. Id. at 569-70 (internal citations omitted). “It is difficult even for expert psychologists to differentiate between the juvenile offender whose crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity, and the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption.” Id. at 573. Therefore, “juvenile offenders cannot with reliability be classified among the worst offenders.” Id. While “[a] juvenile is not absolved of responsibility for his actions,” his transgressions are “not as morally reprehensible as that of an adult.” Graham, 560 U.S. at 68 (internal citations omitted).

Sixteen-year old Terrance Graham was charged with armed burglary and attempted armed robbery of a barbecue restaurant. Id. at 53. Graham entered guilty pleas to both charges pursuant to a plea agreement. The trial court withheld adjudication of guilt as to both charges and sentenced Graham to concurrent three-year terms of probation with jail time. Id. at 54. Shortly thereafter, when Graham was seventeen-years old he was arrested again and charged with home invasion robbery. Graham’s probation officer charged Graham with violating the terms of his probation by “possessing a firearm, committing crimes, and associating with persons engaging in criminal activity.” When Graham appeared before the trial court where he maintained he had no involvement in the home invasion robbery, he admitted to violating his probation by fleeing arrest, even though the trial court emphasized that the admission could expose him to a life sentence based on his previous charges. Id. at 55.

After finding Graham had violated his probation, the trial judge, in his discretion, sentenced Graham to the maximum sentence of life. During the sentencing proceeding, the judge provided his reasoning for the sentence: “We can’t do anything to deter you. This is the way you are going to lead your life.... [T]hat is where we are today is I don’t see where I can do anything to help you any further.” Id. at 56-57. Florida had abolished its parole system; accordingly, the life sentence gave Graham no possibility of release unless he was granted executive clemency. Id. at 57.

The Supreme Court held that “for a juvenile offender who did not commit homicide the Eighth Amendment forbids the sentence of life without parole.” Id. at 74. Just as the Court did in Roper, the Graham Court, relied upon developments in social science demonstrating the fundamental differences between juveniles and adults:

[D]evelopments in psychology and brain science continue to show fundamental differences between juvenile and adult minds. For example, parts of the brain involved in behavior control continue to mature through late adolescence. Juveniles are more capable of change than are adults, and their actions are less likely to be evidence of irretrievably depraved character than are the actions of adults. It remains true that from a moral standpoint it would be misguided to equate the failings of a minor with those of an adult, for a greater possibility exists that a minor’s character deficiencies will be reformed.

Id. at 68 (internal citations omitted).

The Court explained the decision was “necessary to prevent the possibility that life without parole sentences will be imposed on juvenile non-homicide offenders who are not sufficiently culpable to merit that punishment.” Id. at 74. Although “[a] state is not required to guarantee the eventual freedom to a juvenile offender convicted of a non-homicide crime,” the state must “give defendants like Graham some meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation.” Id. at 75. “[W]hile the Eighth Amendment forbids a State from imposing a life without parole sentence on a juvenile non-homicide offender, it does not require the state to release that offender during his natural life.” Id. “The Eighth Amendment does not

foreclose the possibility that persons convicted of non-homicide crimes committed before adulthood will remain behind bars for life. It does forbid states from making the judgment at the outset that those offenders never will be fit to reenter society.” Id.

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