STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

ORIGINAL

Appeal from York County  
Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JOSHUA KERR CRAMER

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2017-002471

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

W. JEFFREY YOUNG  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SHERRIE BUTTERBAUGH  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 101477  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

KEVIN S. BRACKETT  
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

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

“to present evidence specific to their attributes of youth and allow the judge to consider such evidence in light of its constitutional weight.” *Id.* at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577. The Court determined the factors in *Miller* were those which must be considered during the hearings, such as the offender's age and other features of youth, family life, circumstances of the crime, understanding of the legal process, and possibility of rehabilitation. *Id.* at 544-45, 765 S.E.2d at 577-78. Just as the *Miller* court held, our Court explained juveniles could still receive life without parole, but only after “an individualized hearing where the mitigating hallmark features of youth are fully explored.” *Id.* at 545, 765 S.E.2d at 578.

Two years later, the United States Supreme Court held its rule in *Miller* was retroactive on state collateral review. *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 136 S.Ct. 718, 736 (2016). Recognizing the potential burden on states tasked with re-litigating cases where a juvenile received mandatory life without parole, the Court explained states could remedy a *Miller* violation by permitting juvenile homicide offenders to be considered for parole, rather than resentencing them. *Id.* The Court found allowing “those offenders to be considered for parole ensures those whose crimes reflected only transient immaturity—and who have since matured—will not be forced to serve a disproportionate sentence in violation of the Eighth Amendment.” *Id.* However, *Miller*, *Aiken*, and *Montgomery*, address only juvenile homicide offenders—those defendants who were under the age of eighteen at the time they committed their crimes.

*Appellant Not Similarly Situated to Class of Juveniles in Aiken*

Appellant asserts the *Aiken* Court held the principles of *Miller* were not restricted to only the fifteen inmates who were part of the class before the Court, but applied to those “similarly situated” such as himself who was an adult and exhibited the same characteristics of youth as those under the age of eighteen. However, such a reading of the language used by the Court in

*Aiken* is too broad and outside the scope of the case's procedural posture and context at the time it was decided. Tyrone Aiken and the named plaintiffs were part of a class of about three dozen inmates serving sentences of life without parole for homicide offenses committed while they were juveniles. When the Court used the phrase "similarly situated," it was referring to those people beyond the fifteen named plaintiffs—i.e. the two dozen or so inmates not named in the case, but also serving life without parole. The Court was not referring to someone such as appellant who is outside of the class of inmates serving life because he was an adult at the time he committed murder and was sentenced as such. Read in context, the holding in *Aiken* only applies to juvenile homicide offenders. See *Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 545, 765 S.E.2d at 578 ("We hold the principles enunciated in *Miller v. Alabama* apply retroactively to those petitioners, to those similarly situated, and prospectively to all juvenile offenders who may be subject to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole."). *Aiken* and *Miller* do not apply to any other type of offender and have not been so broadly construed to include the argument made by appellant that he is entitled to resentencing because he was the "functional equivalent" of a juvenile at the time he committed murder.

#### *U.S. Supreme Court Precedent Establishes Age of Juveniles*

As the circuit court properly noted, and as our Supreme Court has already acknowledged, the United States Supreme Court precedent establishes a bright line of eighteen between being a juvenile and an adult. *Miller* explicitly recognized the line in its holding. 567 U.S. at 465. The *Miller* Court did not make any exceptions for young adults, anyone slightly older than eighteen, or any offender other than someone younger than eighteen. Following the Supreme Court, our Court in *Aiken* similarly defined juveniles in South Carolina as a person less than eighteen and noted:

In South Carolina, pursuant to Section 63-19-20 of the South Carolina Code (2010), a juvenile is a person less than seventeen years of age. However, *Miller* extends to defendants under eighteen years of age and therefore for the purposes of this opinion we consider juveniles to be individuals under eighteen.<sup>4</sup>

410 S.C. at 537 n.1, 765 S.E.2d at 573. Neither Supreme Court has extended the *Miller* rule beyond the age of eighteen.

Courts around the country that have considered this issue have overwhelmingly determined the holding in *Miller* does not apply to offenders over the age of eighteen. See *United States v. Chavez*, 894 F.3d 593, 609 (4th Cir. 2018), *cert. denied*, 139 S.Ct. 278 (2018) (rejecting the argument by two defendants who were eighteen and nineteen years old when sentenced to mandatory life for murder in aid of racketeering that their sentences were unconstitutional pursuant to *Miller*); *United States v. Young*, 847 F.3d 328, 364-65 (6th Cir. 2017) (finding *Miller* did not apply because the offender was twenty-two years old at the time of offense); *Cruz v. Muniz*, No. 2:16-cv-00498, 2017 WL 3226023, at \*6 (E.D.C.A. July 31, 2017) (citing *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 479) (dismissing a habeas petition based in part on *Miller* by noting “the fact that petitioner was three months shy of his nineteen birthday as the time he committed the crime of conviction does not affect the Eighth Amendment analysis dictated by the Supreme Court. Although petitioner was young, he was not legally a juvenile”); *Thomas v. Arnold*, No. 3:16-cv-02986-WQH-NLS, 2017 WL 2424133, at \*3 (S.D. Cal. June 2, 2017) (“Petitioner, whose crime was committed at age twenty, cannot rely on Supreme Court authority applicable to juveniles.”); *Guzman v. Rozum*, No. 13-7083, 2017 WL 1344391, at \*17 (E.D. Pa. Apr. 12, 2017) (finding because defendant was nineteen years old at time of offense *Miller* did not apply); *Tate v. Link*, No. 17-365, 2017 WL 1363335, at \*2 (E.D. Pa. Mar. 23, 2017) (“*Miller* does not

---

<sup>4</sup> The statutory definition will change effective July 1, 2019, to “a person less than eighteen years of age.”

apply to Tate because Tate was twenty years old at the time of his crime.”); *Adkins v. Wetzel*, No. 3-3652, 2017 WL 1030704, at \*3 (E.D. Pa., Mar. 17, 2017) (finding defendant conceded he was not younger than eighteen years of age at time of offense so he was not entitled to relief); *Ricciardi v. Lane*, No. 16-266, 2017 WL 3084589, at \*3, 17 (W.D. Pa., Mar. 8, 2017) (finding *Miller* did not apply because defendant was twenty at time of the offense); *White v. Delbalso*, No. 17-cv-443, 2017 WL 939020, at \*2 (E.D. Pa. Feb. 2, 2017) (finding *Miller* does not apply because White was twenty-three years old at the time of his crime); *Martinez v. Pfister*, No. 16-cv-2886, 2017 WL 219515, at \*5 (N.D. Ill. Jan. 19, 2017) (citing *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 470) (finding meritless the *Miller* claim because Martinez was not a juvenile at the time he committed the crimes for which he was convicted); *Meas v. Lizarraga*, No. 15-cv-4368, 2016 WL 8451467, at \*14 (C.D. Cal. Dec. 14, 2016) (citing *Miller* and *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 75 (2010)) (finding petitioner was not a juvenile at the time he committed his crimes because he was nineteen years old and “under existing Supreme Court precedent, Petitioner cannot establish that his sentence violates the Eighth Amendment on the basis of his age at the time of his crimes”); *Miller v. Warden Mooney*, No. 2:16-cv-5041, 2016 WL 7375015, at \*13 n.3 (E.D. Pa., Dec. 19, 2016) (finding *Miller* has no applicability to Petitioner because he was twenty-two years of age at the time of the offense); *Buckner v. Montgomery*, No. 16-8471 JAK (JCG), 2016 WL 7975311, at \*2 (C.D. Cal. Dec. 2, 2016) (finding *Miller* applied only to those under the age of eighteen and because petitioner committed his crimes at the age of eighteen, “any newly recognized right stemming from *Miller* decision is not applicable to” him). The case law demonstrates the conclusion *Miller* and its holding apply only to individuals younger than eighteen.

Few courts have extended the *Miller* rule to homicide offenders beyond the age of

eighteen. Two such cases appellant relies on in support of his position are easily distinguishable. The first is *People v. House*, 72 N.E.3d 357 (Ill. App. Ct. 2015). In that case, the Illinois Court of Appeals ruled a life sentence imposed on a nineteen year old violated the *state* constitution. *House*, 72 N.E.3d at 384, 389. However, *House* has since been vacated by the Illinois Supreme Court, stating:

In the exercise of this Court's supervisory authority, the Appellate Court, First District, is directed to vacate its judgment in *People v. House*, case No. 1-11-0580 (12/24/15). The appellate court is directed to consider the effect of this court's opinion in *People v. Harris*, 2018 IL 121932, on the issue of whether defendant's sentence violates the Proportionate Penalties Clause of the Illinois Constitution.

*People v. House*, 111 N.E.3d 940 (Ill. 2018) (Table).

Next, the United States District Court for the District of Connecticut also recently granted a new sentencing hearing to a habeas petitioner who was eighteen years and twenty weeks old at the time he committed his offense. *Cruz v. United States*, No. 11-cv-787 (JCH) 2018 WL 1541898, at \*1 (D. Conn. Mar. 29, 2018). Yet, the holding in *Cruz* was expressly rejected by two federal district courts. See *Commonwealth v. Mabine*, No. 1009 EDA 2018, 2018 WL 5262369, at \*3 (Pa. Super. Ct. Oct. 23, 2018) ("We find appellant's reliance on this case, which was decided by a federal trial court, unavailing."); *Heard v. Snyder*, No. 16-14367, 2018 WL 2560414, at \*2 (E.D. Mich. June 4, 2018) (finding the defendants had not they were entitled to relief and "the new non-binding case out of the district court of Connecticut does not change this determination," the court noted further, "The federal courts, now save one, have drawn a bright line and refused to extend to defendants over the age of eighteen, the Supreme Court's holding in *Miller*."). As noted by the court in *Heard*, "The Connecticut court's holding is a lone outlier." *Heard*, 2018 WL 2560414, at \*3.

Beyond *Miller* is years of Supreme Court precedent holding the bright line between adults and juveniles is eighteen for purposes of the Eighth Amendment's prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. Before *Miller*, the Court in *Graham* prohibited imposing life without parole on juvenile offenders under the age of eighteen who did not commit homicide. 560 U.S. at 74-75, 82. The Supreme Court also recognized the line in *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551, 574-75 (2005) (holding capital punishment cannot be imposed on defendants under the age of eighteen). While the Court in *Roper* acknowledged drawing a line at eighteen was subject "to the objections always raised against categorical rules," it explained, "The qualities that distinguish juveniles from adults do not disappear when an individual turns [eighteen]. By the same token, some under [eighteen] have already attained a level of maturity some adults will never reach. *Id.* at 574. Nevertheless, *Roper* concluded a line must be drawn and, "[t]he age of [eighteen] is the point where society draws the line for many purposes between childhood and adulthood. It is, we conclude, the age at which the line for death eligibility ought to rest." *Id.* The *Miller* opinion cited to both *Roper* and *Graham* and drew the line for sentencing purposes at age eighteen. That is the appropriate line in Eighth Amendment jurisprudence. Accordingly, appellant's sentence is not unconstitutional because he was almost nineteen when he committed his crimes.

*Science of Brain Development Already Considered When Determining Relief in Miller*

Finally, the science appellant relies on to argue his brain was developmentally the same as a juvenile so that he is entitled to resentencing is virtually identical to that already considered by the Supreme Court in *Miller*. Had the Court meant for its holding to include those whose age exceeded the age of eighteen, it had the scientific facts available to do so. Instead, the Court chose to draw the line at eighteen. The circuit court properly followed precedent and this Court

should decline to revisit an issue already decided by the Supreme Court.

At the hearing on appellant's motion and in the brief before this Court, appellant detailed the science of brain development, included the concept the brain is not fully developed until a person's mid-twenties and the last part of the brain to develop is the prefrontal cortex which deals with a person's ability to assess risk. (R.p.8, line 22-p.9, line 13; FBOA, p.5, p.31). This is the same type of scientific evidence the Supreme Court heard in *Miller*. The Court in the *Miller* opinion explained "developments in psychology and brain science continue to show fundamental differences between juvenile and adult minds – for example in parts of the brain involved in behavior control." *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 471-72. In support, the Court cited to scientific articles and *amicus* briefs submitted by other experts in the field. *Id.* If the Supreme Court had intended its new rule to apply to those near to, rather than under, the age of eighteen, it certainly had the scientific facts to hold so explicitly. Yet it chose not to. Given that there is essentially no difference in the scientific evidence presented, this Court should not reach a conclusion different from *Miller*.

Therefore, because appellant was an adult at the time he committed murder, his sentence is not cruel and unusual punishment, and the circuit court did not err in denying his motion for resentencing.

## II.

Appellant's equal protection right argument fails because there was no requisite discriminatory state action as the circuit court was effectuating a judicially created classification in *Miller*.

Appellant fails to make a valid equal protection claim because there was no discriminatory state action which treated him differently. The circuit court was effectuating a judicially created classification by the Supreme Court in *Miller* which distinguished between juvenile and adult homicide offenders. Regardless, even if this Court were to find an equal protection claim, appellant's rights were not violated by the circuit court's decision to deny his motion for resentencing. The classification distinguishing adults and juveniles for sentencing purposes meets the rational basis test. Appellant cannot demonstrate he is similarly situated to juveniles convicted of homicide because he was legally an adult at the time he committed his crimes.

### Analysis

#### *Standard of Review*

In criminal cases, appellate courts only review errors of law. *Gamble*, 405 S.C. at 415, 747 S.E.2d at 787 (citing *Jacobs*, 393 S.C. at 586, 713 S.E.2d at 622). The appellate court is bound by the lower court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *Wilson*, 345 S.C. at 6, 545 S.E.2d at 829. This Court reviews questions of law *de novo*. *Whitner*, 399 S.C. at 552, 732 S.E.2d at 863. When evaluating an equal protection challenge, if there is no suspect or quasi-suspect class and no fundamental right abridged, the "rational basis" standard is used to determine whether the classification falls into a prohibited group. *Bodman v. State*, 403 S.C. 60, 69, 742 S.E.2d 363, 367 (2013) (citing *Denene, Inc. v. City of Charleston*, 359 S.C. 85, 91, 596 S.E.2d 917, 920 (2004)).

### *No Cognizable Equal Protection Claim*

Respondent first notes the circuit court did not rule on appellant's equal protection argument when denying his motion for resentencing. The court simply ruled appellant was not a juvenile at the time he committed his crimes pursuant to relevant case law which was not decided on equal protection grounds, and granted the State's motion to dismiss the request for resentencing. Additionally, appellant did not file a post-hearing motion seeking a ruling on the issue. Consequently, it is questionable whether the argument is preserved for review in this Court. *See State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003) ("In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial [court]. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal."). However, because the issue was presented to the lower court in a memorandum and during the hearing, respondent addresses it out of an abundance of caution.

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